FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/8/2020 3:33 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/9/2020
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

98392-5

No. 79902-9-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Plaintiff/Respondent

VS.

\$43,697.18 U.S. CURRENCY,

In Rem Defendant

Intervening:

REBEKAH SHIN,

Claimant/Petitioner

### PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Billie R. Morelli Attorney for Petitioner 9805 Sauk Connection Rd Concrete, Washington 98237 360-853-8368 p 206-400-1584 f Billie@LawyerfortheLittleGuy.com

###

issue presented for review is:

• Is notice-prong of due process satisfied by serving on potential claimants a notice document that incorrectly states the time-and-manner requirements one must strictly comply with to a valid claim?

To answer that question, the court must determine:

- Whether drug forfeiture proceedings are special proceedings<sup>1</sup> that are a derogation of the common law and "purely statutory;
- Whether special proceedings must be strictly construed in favor of the litigant on which notice must be served (ie: claimants, defendants, etc);
- Whether a seizing agency's process document is required to strictly comply with the forfeiture statute by accurately stating the time-and-manner requirements the statute dictates to claimants as the method of process submitting a valid claim;
- Whether the City's process document fails to strictly comply with the statute because it materially misstates those time-and-manner requirements;
- Whether jurisdiction attaches to special proceedings when the plaintiff's process document materially misstates those time-and-manner requirements;
- Whether law enforcement may take advantage of the forfeiture statute's favorable provisions when it failed to "comply with the requirements of the statute;
- Whether a tribunal retains the power to require a party to show prejudice even when without jurisdiction to render judgment due to Plaintiff's failure to provide notice?

The opinion appears to focus on the fact that *Truly* was an unlawful detainer proceeding, rather than a forfeiture proceeding. Because the *Truly* 

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> *Putman*, 166 Wn.2d 974 at ¶ 14.

court stated they required strict compliance because it is a special proceeding that was a derogation of the common law, Shin petitions this court for review of that decision.

#### ii. Insufficient Service-of-Process

When determining whether Shin received service-of-process sufficient to satisfy constitutional protections, the Court of Appeals again did not apply below-cited cases correctly. The court ruled that Shin was sufficiently served twice: 1) via substitute service, and 1) via the mail. Shin petitions this court to review the opinion, apply the below-cited cases, and answer the questions below when deciding whether Shin received statutory and constitutional due process.

#### a) Substitute Service

- If so, when one homeless person shelters with a second homeless person in an operable RV that's parked on the street, is that RV a residence for service-of-process purposes?
- If so, then is service-of-process effected on the first homeless person by handing process to the second person while they sit in the back of a police car parked in the vicinity of the RV?

#### b) Mail Service

When determining whether Shin received service-of-process sufficient to satisfy constitutional protections, the Court of Appeals again did not apply the below cases correctly. Shin petitions this court to review the opinion, apply the below listed cases, and decide whether the City's actions amount to sufficient service-of-process.

This issue of insufficient service-of-process is also raised within Shin's petition for review of court of appeals case number 79002-1-I, which is linked to this case. The facts are different, but the law applied is the same. Shin relies on her briefing in both cases, and adopts her briefing in case number 79002-1-I by reference.

On the issue of insufficient service-of-process, the opinion of the Court of Appeals appears to turn on its finding that Shin "frequently and recently" used 77 S. Washington St, Seattle, WA, 98104 as her mailing address; the court seems to take Shin's mere acknowledgement that the City did mail something to that address as a concession that the address was hers or the mailing effected service. Shin made no such concession.

The City argued it was Shin's "last known address," but the record does not support such a finding, and thus Shin petitions this court to review and decide this issue.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Court of Appeals reviewed a superior court decision reviewing a district court order dismissing the case for lack of jurisdiction.

The trial court did not rule on any other issues and did not forfeit any property. The record does not contain a valid forfeiture order.

#### A. City of Seattle Administrative Proceeding

This matter arises out of administrative forfeiture proceeding No. 15-409475 commenced on Nov. 24, 2015 by Respondent City of Seattle (City) under RCW 69.50.505 when it seized the *in-rem* defendant currency from Shin. Shin did not receive any paperwork indicating the City's intentions or how to object to the seizure.

On Feb. 8, 2016, through counsel, Shin was able to file a claim to her property. Shin's claim was accepted, and she received correspondence from Det. Kinner notifying her that a full adversarial hearing was scheduled for Apr. 13, 2016.

The litigants then engaged in discovery before Shin removed the matter to district court on March 24, 2016. The agency refused to effect the removal and a tangential, unnecessary and ultra-vires, track of litigation evolved.

#### B. King County District Court Cause No. 165-01868

About a year after Shin removed proceedings to district court, she

motioned for summary judgment asserting that inter alia, the City failed to provide her with an opportunity to be heard within the ninety-day requirement announced in the *Tellevik Cases*<sup>2</sup>.

In response, the City motioned for dismissal, arguing that its hearing examiner had issued a default forfeiture. Shin replied that because authority to render judgment had been removed prior to the hearing examiner's action, her actions were *ultra-vires*, and the order was void.

The court granted the City's motion in part, striking the hearing date, but stayed proceedings for one year in anticipation of the outcome of Shin's petition for review of the default order.

The next year, Shin motioned for the stay to be lifted and again motioned for summary judgment. She argued that 1) authority to render judgment was removed from agency to district court on March 24, 2016; 2) the drug forfeiture statute language violates due process;; 3) the City's process document violates the statute and due process; 4) the City failed to effect service-of-process on Shin by Dec. 9, 2015; and 5) the City failed to provide Shin an opportunity to be heard in district court within 90 days...

The City responded argued the default order was res judicata. Shin replied that the Hearing Examiner's actions are void because authority to

(hereinafter "Tellevik II or "The Tellevik Cases"").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Tellevik v. 31641 W. Rutherford St., 120 Wn.2d 68, 91, 838 P.2d 11(1992), modified 845 P.2d 1325 (1993) (hereinafter "Tellevik I" or "The Tellevik Cases"). 13 Tellevik v. 31641 W. Rutherford St., 125 Wn.2d 364, 370-374884 P.2d 1319 (1994)

render judgment rested in the District Court. On the first issue, the court

held it was without authority to render judgment, and then dismissed the

matter without prejudice.

The district court did not order the property forfeited.

C. King County Superior Court

Shin appealed to superior court under cause 17-2-28716-4, which

affirmed the district court's conclusion that it was without jurisdiction to

render judgement. Then it then rendered judgment on the issue of service-

of-process, finding Shin has been sufficiently served.

The superior court did not order the property forfeited.

D. Division One of the Court of Appeals

Shin motioned for discretionary review to Division One of the Court

of Appeals under case 79902-9. Commissioner Neel found that this case

presented issues of public interest that should be determined by an

appellate court, and granted review under RAP 2.3(d)(3).

Oral argument was set for a Mar. 4, 2020 oral argument. However,

when the City motioned for more time to prepare, the court denied the

motion, and instead struck oral argument.

The Court of Appeals affirmed. Although review had been granted

review under RAP 2.3(d)(3), the court's opinion did not discuss the

public's interest in the issues raised.

#### The court of appeals did not order the property forfeited.

The Court of appeals agreed Shin removed authority from the agency to district court on March 24, 2016, stating "[w]e note the district court's findings in the order staying the proceeding and in the order of dismissal and the subsequent findings of the superior court on appeal appear to be inconsistent with chapter 4.14 RCW." (pg 7  $\P$  2) Stated differently, the court reiterated that, "[i]t appears the district court and the superior court, on the removal track, confused the authority of the superior court when acting as the review of the hearing examiner's determination, on the agency track, and the authority of the superior court conducting the appeal of the district court's determination, on the removal track." (pg 9  $\P$  2).

The court then turned to the due process issues of 1) insufficient process; and 2) insufficient service-of-process, and found the City satisfied both. When doing so, it used the void "findings" from the *ultra-vires* track of litigation. Shin now petitions this court to accept review.

#### V. STATEMENT OF CASE SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

#### A. Facts re: Insufficient Process Issue

The City's pre-printed document materially misstates the statutory time-and-manner requirements with which a claimant must strictly comply to file a valid claim . (CP 22). The City's document reads in pertinent part:

Send your written claim via certified mail addressed to the Chief

of Police, Attn: Narcotics Section, Seattle Police Department, 610 Fifth Ave, P.O. Box 34986, Seattle, W A **98124-4986**. In your letter please identify the property you are claiming. <u>Your letter must be received by the Seattle Police Department within 45 days of the date that that property was seized.</u>

*Id.* (underlining and italics in original) (bold added for emphasis).

The time and manner requirements demanded by The City are not required by law. The drug forfeiture statute imposes only minimal time-and-manner requirements:

The notice of claim may be served by **any method authorized by law or court rule** including, but not limited to, service by first-class mail. **Service by mail shall be deemed complete upon mailing within the forty-five day period following service of the notice** .... RCW 69.50.505(5)

The City's document misstates the law. First, The City requires all claims to be filed exclusively via certified mail, while the statute allows claim filing by any method authorized by law. Second, The City counts the deadline for receipt of all claims from the date of seizure, while the statute calculates each individual claimant's deadline separately, and from the date that claimant was served process- if any. Third, The City requires it receive all claims by its stated deadline, while the statute deems service of a mailed claim complete upon mailing. Finally, The City's document lists two separate addresses for mailing in a claim, but then provides the wrong ZIP code for one of them.

The City concedes that failure to provide notice is a jurisdictional barrier, and concedes the property must be returned unless the City can prove she was served by than Dec. 9, 2015. (RPI 64 ln. 25, 65 ln. 1-3.)

In 2017, the City updated its 2008-language process document from to correct the first three listed time-and-manner misstatements, but the ZIP code reference remains incorrect<sup>3</sup>.

#### B. Facts re: Systemic Problem of Insufficient Process Issue

The record contains an unbiased<sup>4</sup> sample of 43 other pre-printed notice of seizure documents that are currently used by other law enforcement agencies throughout Washington State. 86% of them misstate the time-and-manner requirements for submitting a claim.

Thirty-three agencies use a form that materially misstates the timeframe in which a claim may be made (Same error as City of Seattle). Two agencies use a form that unlawfully requires all claims be mailed certified (Same error as City of Seattle). Three agencies use a form that unlawfully requires all claims disclose the address and phone number of the claimant, in contradiction of *Espinoza v. City of Everett*, 943 P.2d 387 (1997). One agency uses a form that materially misstates which litigant carries the burden of proof at any hearing under the statute. One agency uses a form that materially misstates the timeframe for removing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Resp. Supp. Brief filed 11/16/2018, at pg. II.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See App. Supp. Brief filed 11/12/2018.

proceedings to a court of competent jurisdiction. One agency only seizes property for forfeiture upon issuance of a seizure warrant, but apparently provides no information regarding a claimant's rights beyond a copy of that warrant. One agency uses a form that lacks any information at all beyond providing a receipt for seized property.

#### C. Facts re: Insufficient Service-of-Process Issue

The facts below apply to this case only. The specific facts contained in the record of the linked case 79002-1-I are stated within Shin's petition for review of that opinion. The same issue is presented to this court in Shin's petition for review of the linked case.

This fact section recites only those facts before the trial court when it ruled. The City's supplemental filings were not in record before dismissal.

Shin's "particular situation" was that she was a homeless woman surviving on the streets of Seattle, Washington. (CP 34-35 ¶ 3). She sheltered inside her boyfriend's RV that was long-term parked along 6<sup>th</sup> Ave South, and Det. Gonzales knew "where they were living." (Id.; CP 155 ln 12-19). Det. Gonzales hand-wrote Shin's actual then-current address on the document he gave her boyfriend the next day: BLU/WHT RV LIC # AVC-2839 - PARKED 4400 BLK 6<sup>TH</sup> AVE S. SEATTLE. (CP 129; 217 ¶ 13).

Shin renewed her driver license on April 2, 2015, just a few months

prior to the seizure. (CP 36). She recorded her address with the DOL as: 2312 NE 85<sup>th</sup> St. Apt A, Seattle, WA 98115-3392. (Id.). It does not expire until September 26, 2020. (Id.). Det. Gonzales recorded Shin's driver license number on his DEA report. (CP 124 indexing 3).

The "circumstances" of this case are as follows:

Det. Gonzales continued communicating with Shin for months after the seizure. (CP 35  $\P$  4-5; CP 154 ln 1-2). He even met with her at DEA headquarters on December 14, 2016. (CP 257  $\P$  3, 5). Despite his frequent contact with Shin, the detective never bothered to personally served her with the notice document in this case. (CP 35  $\P$  6).

A week later, on November 30, 2015, Detective Hardgrove reviewed the case file and decided to mail a notice document to the 77 S. Washington St, Seattle, WA because that address was listed on the police report and in the internal database. (219 ¶ 23-27).

On April 26, 2017, the City's hearing examiner held what Shin asserts was an *ultra-vires* and fact-finding hearing. (CP 215). Shin asserts the hearing examiner's findings from the hearing are also void. Shin does not concede that any proceedings before the hearing examiner have any force in this case. Shin discusses these proceedings *in arguendo*, only.

Finding No. 8 from that proceeding indicates that at the time of the seizure, rather than simply ask Shin whether she had a mailing address

available for use, Det. Gonzales instead chose to rely only on the City's internal database (the RMS/Versadex. (CP 217 ¶ 8). There, he found an old address of unknown age or origin that had been associated with Shin, and copy/pasted that address onto his police report for this case. (Id.).

Finding No. 9 describes how the database is supposed to work: when officers come upon new information about an individual, they should update the database with that new information. Detective Gonzales did not follow this procedure. He should have updated the system with Shin's most recent, then-current information: she's homeless and shelters in an RV on 6<sup>th</sup> Ave). (CP 217 ¶ 9). It is unknown how old the RMS information was, or whether it was accurate at the time it was entered (the record does not indicate who provided the City with the disputed address). Det. Gonzales copy/pasted it into his report and left the old information in the database to age some more. (CP 217 ¶ 8).

Finding 29 states that "Shin's address on her vehicle registration is listed as 77 S. Washington Street. The plate issue date is March 30, 2015". That was over two years before the hearing. (CP 220 ¶ 29). The finding does not indicate to what address those plates were issued, or where the vehicle was registered on that date, or even what vehicle is being described. (Id.). The registration had probably been renewed and updated at least two times between the 2015 plate issuance and the 2017 hearing.

The record does show that two days after these plates were issued, Shin renewed her driver license with her 2312 NE 85<sup>th</sup> St. Apt A, Seattle, Washington 98115-3392. (CP 36). Whatever vehicle registration Finding 9 references, it was not filed prior to the district court's dismissal.

The documents with which Plaintiff supplemented the record are

attached as exhibits to the document Declaration of Gabriella Sanders,

filed with the court of appeals on December 3, 2019. Attached to Ms.

Sanders declaration are eleven exhibits numbered A through K.

Plaintiff references incorrectly calls their Exhibit A a copy of a

hearing. The transcript is of a non-fact-finding conference held under

RCW 34.05.431. The hearing examiner explicitly stated that no testimony

was being taken, and that nobody was under oath. (Pl. Ex. A 23 ¶ 1).

Plaintiff's exhibits A-K are documents are from the tangential,

unnecessary and ultra-vires, track of litigation that evolved when the

City's hearing examiner refused to effect the March 24, 2016 removal of

authority to district court. Shin does not concede that any of the

proceedings before the hearing examiner or the superior court in that track

of litigation have any force in this case, but that all proceedings, findings,

conclusions are void.

VI. GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

"Great caution should be used not to let fiction deny the fair play that can

be secured only by a pretty close adhesion to fact." McDonald v. Mabee,

243 U.S. 90, 91, 37 S.Ct. 343, 61 L.Ed. 608, L.R.A.1917F, 458 (1917).

THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION AFFIRMING THE DISTRICT COURT'S DISMISSAL IS IN CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF THE SUPREME COURT AND A PUBLISHED DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, RAISES A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS AND INVOLVES AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST

RAP 13.4(b) provides in relevant part:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

This issues in this case meet the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b).

Shin incorporates by reference her petition for review, opening brief, and reply brief presented to the court of appeals in this case.

#### A. THRESHOLD ISSUE:

The language of the opinion that the district court had authority to

judgment as of March 23, 2016, the day Shin removed the matter to district court, may be dicta. If dicta, then this issue must be decided.

If the Court of Appeals did rule that authority to render judgment rested with the district court, then it was proper for the Court of Appeals to move on and decide the due process issues presented here. Shin, of course, argues the district court had authority.

B. The district court deprived Shin of her Fourteenth Amendment and Article I Section 3 right to Due Process when it relied on constitutionally deficient service of process to allow forfeiture of Shin's property