FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/8/2020 1:26 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98392-5 Court of Appeals No. 79902-9-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

VS.

\$43,697.18 U.S. CURRENCY,

In Rem Defendant,

Intervening:

REBEKAH SHIN,

Claimant/Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

David N. Bruce, WSBA #15237 Duffy Graham, WSBA #33103 SAVITT BRUCE & WILLEY LLP 1425 Fourth Avenue Suite 800 Seattle, WA 98101-2272 (206) 749-0500

Attorneys for Respondent City of Seattle

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

III. ARGUMENT

The Petition should be denied. First, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the service and content of the notice of forfeiture did not violate Petitioner's due process rights and that Petitioner did not timely serve her claim of ownership. Second, through the review process available to Petitioner on the agency track, she could have made, and did make, the arguments that she now raises. She chose not to pursue further review. As a result, the determinations in the agency track are final and res judicata bars this collateral attack. Third, and not least, Petitioner does not satisfy any of the standards under RAP 13.4(b) that would support further review by the Supreme Court.

A. Petitioner Did Not Timely File Her Notice of Claim.

The Court of Appeals was correct. As discussed more fully below at 13-16, the City's service of the notice of forfeiture was valid, and the contents of the notice both gave Petitioner notice of the forfeiture and provided her the opportunity to object. Petitioner did not serve her notice

of claim of ownership until 70 days after SPD's November 30, 2015 certified mail service of the notice of forfeiture—that is, Petitioner did not serve her notice of claim within the 45-day limitation period under the civil forfeiture statute, RCW 69.50.505(4) and (5). Because the notice of claim was untimely, the property was automatically forfeited by operation of statute. RCW 69.50.505(4) (if no timely claim of ownership is filed, the item seized "shall be deemed forfeited"). The district court correctly disregarded removal and dismissed the matter. *See* Op. at 9-18.

B. Res Judicata Bars Petitioner's Claims.

The arguments that Petitioner raises in this request for review could have been raised, and were raised and decided, in proceedings on the agency track for this case. Petitioner had "the motivation and the opportunity to fully and fairly present" her claim to the seizing agency and in any appeals therefrom. *See Simpson Timber Co., Inc. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 19 Wn. App. 535, 540, 576 P.2d 437 (1978). But Petitioner did not seek review of the hearing examiner's July 11, 2017 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, which determined that Petitioner received proper and actual notice of the seizure and intended forfeiture, though she could have sought review of that order in the Superior Court. CPI 215-21; *see esp.* 221. Petitioner had constructive and actual notice that she could seek review of that determination pursuant to the Administrative Procedure

Act, RCW 34.05. See CPI 221. Because she did not seek review, that determination became a final adjudication of Petitioner's claim regarding service. See Marriage of Aldrich, 72 Wn. App. 132, 138-39, 864 P.2d 388 (1993) (decisions rendered under Administrative Procedure Act, RCW 34.05, are adjudicative).

Accordingly, the doctrine of res judicata bars Petitioner's arguments here, on appeal from a decision in the district court track. *Ensley v. Pitcher*, 152 Wn. App. 891, 902, 222 P.3d 99 (2009) (res judicata bars re-litigation where a subsequent action is identical to a prior action). Res judicata prevents Petitioner from allowing her claims before the seizing agency to die without appeal pursuant to applicable Washington statutes, only to take up her claim in a different action—here, in separate proceedings with the District Court. That is, res judicata precludes such "blatant forum shopping." *See Martin v. Ellis*, 154 Wn. App 1041, 2010 WL 599625, at *6 (2010) (affirming summary judgment dismissal; res judicata bars "blatant forum shopping" of claims).

C. Petitioner Demonstrates No Basis for Review by the Supreme Court.

Assuming *arguendo* that Petitioner's claims are not barred, the Petition nevertheless does not satisfy any of the RAP 13.4(b) standards for obtaining review of the unpublished Court of Appeals decision.

1. There is no decisional conflict.

Petitioner invokes RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) as a basis for review, asserting that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with United States or Washington Supreme Court decisions and published decisions of the Court of Appeals. Ptn. at 17-20. But she does not identify a decisional conflict.

Petitioner asserts that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 70 S. Ct. 865, 94 L.Ed. 865 (1950); Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 92 S. Ct. 2593, 33 L.Ed.2d 484 (1972); and Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976), but she does not identify the holdings of these cases, let alone how the holdings in those cases are purportedly undermined or disregarded by the Court of Appeals decision here. See Ptn. at 18. For clarity: Mullane held that a New York banking statute providing for notice by newspaper publication satisfied due process for trust beneficiaries whose locations or interests could not be ascertained with due diligence, but that notice by newspaper publication did not satisfy due process as to trust beneficiaries of a known place of residence. 339 U.S. at 318-19. *Morrissey* held that a state cannot revoke parole without minimal due process, which requires (1) a preliminary hearing, upon adequate notice, to determine whether there is good cause to believe

a parole violation occurred, and (2) upon a finding of good cause, an opportunity for a revocation hearing upon timely written notice, the right to confront witnesses, and other procedural requirements. 408 U.S. at 484-89. *Mathews* held that an evidentiary hearing is not required prior to termination of Social Security disability benefits. 424 U.S. at 349.

To the extent Petitioner asserts that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with due process standards for notice followed in those cases, Petitioner fails to demonstrate a conflict. Indeed, the Court of Appeals expressly relied on the standard followed in *Mullane* in stating the Washington due process requirement for notice of forfeiture, which it then applied. *See* Op. at 16 n.44 (citing *Bruett v. Real Property Known As* 18328 11th Ave. N.E., 93 Wn. App. 290, 298, 968 P.2d 913 (1998) [quoting *Mullane*, 339 U.S. at 314]).

Petitioner makes no showing that the Court of Appeals decision, which affirmed that service of the notice of forfeiture on Petitioner and the contents of that notice satisfied due process, is in conflict with *Mullane*, *Morrissey*, *Mathews*, or indeed any other Supreme Court or published Court of Appeals decision. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). *In re Dependency of P.H.V.S.*, 184 Wn.2d 1017, 389 P.3d 460 (2015) (denying petition for discretionary review for failure to identify conflict with identified Washington Supreme Court decision).

2. There is no significant question of constitutional law.

Petitioner also asserts pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) that the Court of Appeals decision "raises significant questions of law" under the state and federal constitutions. But she does not identify any such significant question of law.

The extent of Petitioner's argument is that the City's service of the notice of forfeiture did not satisfy due process. She acknowledges that the Washington civil forfeiture statue allows service of the notice of forfeiture of personal property by mail. Ptn. at 18, 19; *see* RCW 69.50.505(3). But she argues service by mail in compliance with the statute was not enough, that it was a "mere gesture" rather than a "serious effort," that it did not meet the "particular situation." Ptn. at 18-20. Specifically, Petitioner argues that service by mail to Petitioner's address in the Seattle Police Department database was not sufficient—that the City was required to search further for Petitioner's address. Ptn. at 19. And Petitioner argues that the alternative service on Petitioner's boyfriend

-

¹ If Petitioner also can be said to argue in the Petition that the content of the notice of forfeiture was constitutionally deficient, the argument is nominal only. She does not explain how any deficiency in the content of the notice deprived her of notice and an opportunity to be heard, and she does not and cannot show prejudice. The City's response to any argument by Petitioner concerning the content of the notice is contained in its Answer to the \$19,000 Petition (Supreme Court No. 98391-7); the City incorporates that response here and respectfully refers the Court to the Answer to the \$19,000 Petition at 6-8.

outside the mobile home she acknowledged that she occupied with him, see Op. at 17 n.46, with the instruction that he give the notice to Petitioner, was also not sufficient – that the City's detective was required to hand the notice to Petitioner personally. Ptn. at 19.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the City's service of process satisfied due process. Op. at 16-17. Specifically, the Court of Appeals stated correctly that, under Washington law, due process requires notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to inform a party of the pendency of the action and an opportunity to be heard; that service must comply with statutory requirements; and that the Washington civil forfeiture statute authorizes service of the notice of forfeiture by certified mail. Op. at 16 (citing *Bruett*, 93 Wn. App. at 298-99; RCW 69.50.505(3)). It noted that Petitioner does not dispute that the City's detective mailed the notice to the address of a homeless shelter that accepts mail, that Petitioner used the address frequently, and that the address was used on her recent vehicle registration. Id. It noted also that there is no evidence in the record that a purported address in Department of Licensing records, which Petitioner argues the City should have searched for and used, was in fact valid at the time of service. *Id.* The Court of Appeals concluded that, under the circumstances, service by mail

to the address that Petitioner does not dispute she used and frequented was reasonably calculated to give her notice. *Id.* at 16-17.

The Court of Appeals also noted that the Washington civil forfeiture statute does not require personal service or telephone notice. It found further that, assuming the RV was Petitioner's residence for purposes of service, then providing the notice by hand to Petitioner's boyfriend at the RV with instruction to give it to her was the equivalent of valid substitute service by leaving the notice with a person of suitable age and discretion at her residence. *Id.* at 17.

Petitioner does not identify a significant question of constitutional law. And she does not argue that the Court of Appeals applied the wrong standard: she cannot, because the Court of Appeals applied the same due process standard that she herself advocates—notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise a party of the pendency of the action and an opportunity to object. *Compare* Op. at 16 (applying "all circumstances" standard) *with* Ptn. at 19 (arguing that service by mail to street address used by Petitioner was not reasonable under all the circumstances).

Rather, Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeals decision that service of the notice of forfeiture satisfied due process under the applicable standard is incorrect. But disagreement with the result does not

constitute a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Petitioner has not demonstrated that the Court of Appeals decision raises a significant constitutional question that warrants review. *Dependency of P.H.V.S.*, 184 Wn.2d 1017 (denying review for failure to demonstrate that Court of Appeals decision raises significant constitutional question).

Further, Petitioner did not suffer actual prejudice from the alleged improper service. She received an evidentiary hearing on whether service of the notice of forfeiture was proper; the SPD hearing examiner determined upon an evidentiary record that Petitioner received actual and proper notice of the forfeiture and of her right to object upon a timely notice of claim. CPI 215-21; *see esp.* 221. Petitioner did not appeal that determination to the Superior Court.

Petitioner does not demonstrate actual prejudice. Dismissal of the forfeiture is not warranted in the absence of prejudice. *State v. Storhoff*, 133 Wn.2d 523, 532, 946 P.2d 783 (1997) (in absence of showing of actual prejudice, incorrect notices did not invalidate license revocation notices); *City of Seattle v. 2009 Cadillac CTS*, 2 Wn.App.2d 44, 409 P.3d 1121 (2017) (holding no denial of due process where hearing commenced outside of 90-day period prescribed by Washington civil forfeiture statute; more timely hearing not required where claimant failed to establish prejudice from delay in hearing).

3. There is no issue of substantial public interest.

Petitioner also invokes RAP 13.4(b)(4) to suggest that this case presents an issue of substantial public interest. But Petitioner does not establish a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Petitioner states that "the pre-printed documents various law enforcement agencies across Washington, [sic] deny due process to anyone who may be entitled to receive notice that a forfeiture proceeding commenced" (Ptn. at 18), but does not explain further. Such a broad and sweeping claim, without further detail and support, does not demonstrate an issue of substantial public interest that warrants review by the Supreme Court. Petitioner does not demonstrate how the decision in this case has the potential to affect cases other than her own or has the potential to create confusion or generate unnecessary litigation. Cf. State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (identifying "prime example of an issue of substantial public interest" where Court of Appeals decision has potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in county after a given date involving alternative sentencing recommendations at issue and where Court of Appeals reasoning invites unnecessary litigation and creates confusion generally).

And, in any event, the Court of Appeals decision does not present an issue of substantial public interest. This unpublished opinion does not have the potential to generate confusion or unnecessary litigation.

IV. CONCLUSION

Petitioner failed to timely serve her claim of ownership in the seized property. Pursuant to Washington's civil forfeiture statute, the property was automatically forfeited.

In proceedings before the SPD hearing examiner, Petitioner had the opportunity to raise, and did raise, her claims regarding the service and content of the notice of forfeiture. The hearing examiner's adjudication of those claims became final. Petitioner has attempted to shop her claims pursuant to an invalid removal, but res judicata bars them.

And, in any event, Petitioner has not demonstrated any basis under RAP 13.4(b) for review by the Supreme Court of the Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion. The Petition should be denied.